<u>No. 48059-0-II</u>

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

# Shawn Brandenburg,

Appellant.

Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-01606-4

The Honorable Judge Mary Sue Wilson

# **Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

### **BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

###

### **ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived Mr. Brandenburg of his Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial.
- 2. The prosecutor committed flagrant, ill-intentioned, prejudicial misconduct by minimizing and mischaracterizing the state's burden of proof during closing argument.
- 3. The prosecutor committed flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct by providing a personal opinion as to Mr. Brandenburg's guilt.

**ISSUE 1:** A prosecutor commits misconduct by minimizing or mischaracterizing the state's burden of proof to the jury. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by telling jurors they should convict if they believed E.W. and L.B.?

**ISSUE 2:** A prosecutor may not express a personal opinion as to the accused person's guilt. Did the prosecutor commit reversible misconduct by using a PowerPoint presentation to express a personal opinion on Mr. Brandenburg's guilt?

- 4. Mr. Brandenburg was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel.
- 5. Mr. Brandenburg's attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to inadmissible evidence.
- 6. Mr. Brandenburg's attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to hearsay bolstering the complainants' testimony.
- 7. Mr. Brandenburg's attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to irrelevant "expert" testimony bolstering the complainants' testimony.
- 8. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to object to prosecutorial misconduct that prejudiced the defense and increased the likelihood of conviction.

**ISSUE 3:** Defense counsel provides ineffective assistance by failing to object to inadmissible and prejudicial evidence absent a valid strategic reason. Did Mr. Brandenburg's attorney

provide ineffective assistance by failing to object to inadmissible testimony that strengthened the state's case and prejudiced his client?

**ISSUE 4:** Generally, defense counsel's failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct during closing falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. Did defense counsel provide ineffective assistance by failing to object to misconduct?

- 9. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 2.
- The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Mr. Brandenburg's right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. I, § 3.
- 11. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction violated Mr. Brandenburg's right to a jury trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 21 and 22.
- 12. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof and undermined the presumption of innocence.
- 13. The trial court's instruction improperly focused jurors on "the truth of the charge" rather than the reasonableness of their doubts.

**ISSUE 5:** A criminal trial is not a search for the truth. By equating proof beyond a reasonable doubt with "an abiding belief in the truth of the charge," did the trial court undermine the presumption of innocence, impermissibly shift the burden of proof, and violate Mr. Brandenburg's constitutional right to a jury trial?

- 14. The statute elevating first-degree child molestation to a Class A felony is unconstitutional because it was enacted in violation of Wash. Const. art. II, § 19.
- 15. The 1990 bill elevating first-degree child molestation to a Class A felony violated the single-subject rule.
- 16. The 1990 bill elevating first-degree child molestation to a Class A felony violated the subject-in-title rule.

17. The 1994 bill reenacting and amending RCW 9A.44.083 did not cure the defect in the 1990 bill, because the 1994 bill was also enacted in violation of art. II, § 19.

**ISSUE 6:** Washington's constitution requires that bills enacted into law embrace a single subject, expressed in the title. Was Mr. Brandenburg convicted of an offense that was improperly elevated to a class A felony by means of a bill enacted in violation of art. II, § 19?

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS**

Shawn Brandenburg met his future wife Gina when their children both attended the same school in California. RP 230. Gina divorced her husband at the time, and married Mr. Brandenburg. RP 233. They lived together in Washington with Gina's five children. RP 233-235.

One of Gina's children, twelve year old E.W., had a sleepover at which her friend L.B. alleged that "someone" took off her bikini top while she slept. RP 40. She said that person then touched her breasts. RP 40, 122-123. E.W. did not believe her friend, as she remembered seeing L.B. remove her own bikini top before they went to sleep. RP 40, 65. When Gina Brandenburg heard the allegation, she didn't believe it either, since Mr. Brandenburg had been with her the entire night. RP 243, 262, 267.

Another friend of E.W.'s who was there that night said that L.B. said the next morning that she thought she saw a person or a shadow standing over her. RP 286-287. This girl said that L.B. didn't know if it was real. RP 287. She also said that L.B. didn't claim at the time that the person touched her. RP 289.

L.B. told her mother, who contacted police. Police came when E.W. was at L.B.'s house, and E.W. told police that a person touched her

4

when she slept. RP 42-43. She said she only saw the person once, and that the person was Mr. Brandenburg. RP 75-76.

E.W. admitted that it may have only happened in her imagination. RP 76. When asked if she was possibly dreaming the incident, E.W. responded that she didn't know. RP 99-100. Over the next two years, E.W. spoke to law enforcement three times, giving more detail each time. RP 56-57, 70-71, 84-85, 108, 219-220.

The state charged Shawn Brandenburg with molesting and raping E.W., and with molesting L.B. CP 1-2.

At trial, the state offered the testimony of Detective Ivanovich. He told the jury that abuse victims don't disclose all at once, but instead tell more and more the safer they feel. RP 158-159. The defense did not object to this testimony. RP 154-159.

The initial investigating officer, Sgt. Cassidy, testified to the details of L.B. and E.W.'s statements to him. He told the jury, without objection, that L.B. "disclosed" a sex offense. RP 212. He also said, again without objection, that E.W. told him that she woke up with her shirt off and thought Mr. Brandenburg had done it. RP 219-220.

The court instructed the jury on reasonable doubt using the standard pattern instruction. That instruction included the following

sentence: "If, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt." CP 21.

During closing argument, the prosecutor told the jury that if they believe E.W., then they are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt: "He's presumed innocent, unless and until you believe the little girls who sat in the chair, [E.W.] and [L.B.], and if you believe them, you're satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt." RP 333.

The prosecutor made use of a PowerPoint presentation during closing argument. Ex 15. Two of the slides asked – and answered – the question: "Did sexual contact between defendant and ([L.B.] or [E.W.]) occur?" The slides included in all caps: "YES." Ex. 15.

The jury acquitted Mr. Brandenburg of rape, but convicted him of two counts of child molestation. CP 40-42. Mr. Brandenburg had no criminal history. CP 53. He was sentenced to 80 months to life. CP 56-57. Mr. Brandenburg timely appealed. CP 73.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

### I. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED MISCONDUCT THAT PREJUDICED MR. BRANDENBURG.

Prosecutorial misconduct can deprive the accused of a fair trial. *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703-704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012); U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV, art. I, § 22. To determine whether a prosecutor's misconduct warrants reversal, the court looks to its prejudicial nature and cumulative effect. *State v. Boehning*, 127 Wn. App. 511, 518, 111 P.3d 899 (2005).

Prosecutorial misconduct during argument can be particularly prejudicial because of the risk that the jury will lend it special weight "not only because of the prestige associated with the prosecutor's office but also because of the fact-finding facilities presumably available to the office." Commentary to the *American Bar Association Standards for Criminal Justice* std. 3–5.8 (cited by *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 706).

A. The prosecutor mischaracterized the burden of proof in closing.

The state's argument "must be confined to the law as set forth in the instructions given by the court." *State v. Davenport*, 100 Wn.2d 757, 760, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984). A prosecutor's misstatement regarding the law is "a serious irregularity having the grave potential to mislead the jury." *Id.*, at 763. This is especially true when the misstatement mischaracterizes the presumption of innocence, the burden of proof, and the reasonable doubt standard. *See, e.g., State v. Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d 423, 434-438, 326 P.3d 125 (2014); *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 713.

Here, the prosecutor mischaracterized the burden of proof by telling jurors to convict if they "believe[d] the little girls who sat in that

chair." RP 333. In fact, the jury could believe the complainants and still have a reasonable doubt as to Mr. Brandenburg's guilt.

Furthermore, the argument implied that acquittal required the jury to disbelieve E.W. and L.B. *See State v. Casteneda-Perez*, 61 Wn. App. 354, 362, 810 P.2d 74 (1991). This was misconduct. The argument was improper. *Id.* 

B. The prosecutor improperly expressed a personal opinion as to Mr. Brandenburg's guilt.

A prosecutor must "seek conviction based only on probative evidence and sound reason." *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704. It is improper for the state's attorney to convey a personal opinion of the accused's guilt. *Id.* at 706-07. A prosecutor who "'throw[s] the prestige of his public office . . . and the expression of his own belief of guilt into the scales against the accused" denies the defendant a fair trial. *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 677, 257 P.3d 551 (2011) (quoting *State v. Case*, 49 Wn.2d 66, 71, 298 P.2d 500 (1956)).

In deciding whether a prosecutor's remarks amount to an expression of personal opinion, the reviewing court considers the comments in the context of the entire argument. *State v. McKenzie*, 157 Wn.2d 44, 53-54, 134 P.3d 221 (2006). Prejudicial error occurs if it is "clear and unmistakable that counsel is not arguing an inference from the evidence, but is expressing a personal opinion." *McKenzie*, 157 Wn.2d at 54 (emphasis omitted) (quoting *State v. Papadopoulos*, 34 Wn. App. 397, 400, 662 P.2d 59 (1983).

PowerPoint slides can create special problems for prosecutors. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704-711. Prosecuting attorneys who use presentation software (such as PowerPoint) run the risk that jurors will view a particular slide as an expression of personal opinion. *Id.; see also State v. Hecht*, 179 Wn. App. 497, 506, 319 P.3d 836 (2014).

Here, the prosecutor expressed a personal opinion by showing slides that answered "YES" to the question "Did sexual contact between defendant and [L.B./E.W.] occur?" Ex. 15. The two slides with this question and answer did not contain any reference to the testimony or other evidence. Ex. 15. The "YES" answers were provided in bold lettering, larger than any other characters on the slide.<sup>1</sup> Ex. 15.

As in *Glasmann, Hecht*, and other cases addressing similar slides, the prosecutor's visual presentation conveyed a personal opinion on the primary issue at trial. The misconduct was flagrant, ill-intentioned, and could not have been cured by an instruction. *Hecht*, 179 Wn. App. at 506. This is especially true because graphical presentations such as that used

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Indeed, the lettering appears larger than any of the bold characters on any of the PowerPoint slides. Ex. 15. Furthermore, the exhibit is in black and white; the record does not indicate the colors shown to the jury.

here may operate at an unconscious level, rendering curative instructions ineffective. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 708, 709 n.4.

The slides improperly expressed a personal opinion. Id.

C. The prosecutor's flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct caused incurable prejudice.

A prosecutor's improper statements prejudice the accused if they create a substantial likelihood that the verdict was affected. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704. The inquiry must look to the misconduct and its impact, not the evidence that was properly admitted. *Id.* at 711.

Prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal, even absent an objection below, if it is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice. *State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533, 552, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012). Misconduct is flagrant and ill-intentioned when it violates professional standards and case law that were available to the prosecutor at the time of the improper statement.

Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 707.

Here, Mr. Brandenburg was prejudiced by the prosecutor's improper arguments. Both E.W. and L.B. had credibility issues, and the testimony of others undermined their accounts. RP 230-274, 279-291. By misstating the burden of proof and expressing a personal opinion, the prosecutor tipped the balance in favor of conviction. There is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the verdicts. *Id.*, at 704.

Furthermore, the prosecutor had access to long-standing caselaw prohibiting her from mischaracterizing the law in closing argument. *See e.g. State v. Evans*, 163 Wn. App. 635, 643, 260 P.3d 934 (2011). Likewise, the rule prohibiting expression of personal opinions in PowerPoint presentations is well-established. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704-711; *Hecht*, 179 Wn. App. at 506.

The prosecutor committed flagrant, ill-intentioned, prejudicial misconduct. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704-711. Mr. Brandenburg's convictions must be reversed. *Id.* 

# II. MR. BRANDENBURG WAS DEPRIVED OF THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

The right to counsel includes the right to the effective assistance of counsel.<sup>2</sup> U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Counsel's performance is deficient if it falls below an objective standard of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ineffective assistance of counsel is an issue of constitutional magnitude that can be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009); RAP 2.5(a).

An ineffective assistance claim presents a mixed question of law and fact, reviewed *de novo*. *In re Fleming*, 142 Wn.2d 853, 865, 16 P.3d 610 (2001); *State v. Horton*, 136 Wn. App. 29, 146 P.3d 1227 (2006). Reversal is required if counsel's deficient performance prejudices the accused. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862 (eiting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687).

reasonableness. U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862. Deficient performance prejudices the accused when there is a reasonable probability that it affected the outcome of the proceeding. *Id.* 

A. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to object to inadmissible testimony that prejudiced Mr. Brandenburg.

Defense counsel provides ineffective assistance by failing to object to inadmissible evidence absent a valid strategic reason. *State v. Saunders*, 91 Wn. App. 575, 578, 958 P.2d 364 (1998) (*citing State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 336, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)). Reversal is required if an objection would likely have been sustained and there is a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different without the inadmissible evidence. *Id.* 

1. Defense counsel should have objected to inadmissible hearsay that bolstered the state's case.

Hearsay is generally inadmissible. ER 801, ER 802. Furthermore, repetition is not generally a valid test for veracity. *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 867, 83 P.3d 970 (2004) (citing *State v. Alexander*, 64 Wn. App. 147, 152, 822 P.2d 1250 (1992)).

Here, defense counsel unreasonably failed to object to hearsay that bolstered the complainants' testimony. Specifically, counsel should not have permitted Sergeant Cassidy to testify that L.B. disclosed to him a sex offense. RP 212. Counsel should also have objected when Cassidy spelled out the "concerning things" E.W. had told him about Mr. Brandenburg. RP 220-221.

These hearsay statements did not fit within any hearsay exception. Furthermore, their effect was to improperly bolster the testimony of L.B. and E.W., contrary to *Thomas*. Defense counsel should have objected, and his failure to do so denied Mr. Brandenburg the effective assistance of counsel. *Saunders*, 91 Wn. App. at 578.

2. Defense counsel should have objected to "expert" testimony regarding delayed reporting.

An expert may testify about specialized knowledge, but only if qualified to do so. ER 701. Furthermore, expert testimony bolstering a child victim's account should not be admitted into evidence unless the complainant's credibility is challenged in a manner that implicates the specific subject of the expert testimony. *See, e.g., State v. Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d 566, 575, 683 P.2d 173 (1984) *overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 756 P.2d 105 (1988).

Here, defense counsel should have objected when the prosecutor elicited expert testimony from Detective Ivanovich about the general behavior of children disclosing abuse. RP 158-159. Ivanovich was not qualified to testify as an expert. Although he had some training and personal experience interviewing child victims, he did not claim to be familiar with any studies or research on the subject of child disclosures. RP 154-159. Instead, Ivanovich appeared to be generalizing from personal experience.

When a witness uses personal experience as a basis for "generalized statements regarding the behavior of sexually abused children as a class, the testimony crosses over to scientific testimony regarding a profile or syndrome, whether or not the term is used..." *State v. Jones*, 71 Wn. App. 798, 818, 863 P.2d 85 (1993).

Detective Ivanovich crossed that line. Defense counsel should have objected. Mr. Brandenburg's convictions must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial. *Saunders*, 91 Wn. App. at 578.

B. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to object to the prosecutor's misconduct.

Failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct is objectively unreasonable under most circumstances: "At a minimum, an attorney... should request a bench conference... where he or she can lodge an appropriate objection." *Hodge v. Hurley*, 426 F.3d 368, 386 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir., 2005). Here, defense counsel did not even take this "minimum" step.

14

Counsel should have objected when the state improperly told jurors to convict if they "believe[d] the little girls who sat in that chair." RP 333. Likewise, counsel should have objected to the PowerPoint slides that answered "YES" (in oversized bold letters) to the question "Did sexual contact between defendant and [L.B./E.W.] occur?" Ex. 15.

At a minimum, defense counsel should have asked for a sidebar, objected, and sought a mistrial outside the presence of the jury. The prosecutor violated well-established rules that should have been obvious to defense counsel. Counsel's failure to protect his client's interest through a proper objection deprived Mr. Brandenburg of the effective assistance of counsel.

Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance. *Id.* Mr. Brandenburg's convictions must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial. *Id.* 

C. Defense counsel's errors prejudiced Mr. Brandenburg.

Mr. Brandenburg pled not guilty and denied any abuse. The defense strategy involved casting doubt on the accusations. By failing to object to inadmissible evidence, defense counsel allowed prejudicial testimony to bolster the testimony of E.W. and L.B. Furthermore, by allowing the prosecutor to commit prejudicial misconduct, defense

15

counsel increased the risk that jurors would decide the case for improper reasons.

There is a reasonable possibility that some jurors were influenced by the inadmissible hearsay, the irrelevant "expert" testimony, and the prosecutor's misconduct. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862. Accordingly, Mr. Brandenburg's convictions must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial. *Id*.

### III. THE COURT'S "REASONABLE DOUBT" INSTRUCTION INFRINGED MR. BRANDENBURG'S FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS BECAUSE IT IMPROPERLY FOCUSED THE JURY ON A SEARCH FOR "THE TRUTH."

A jury's role is not to search for the truth. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012); *State v. Berube*, 171 Wn. App. 103, 286 P.3d 402 (2012). Rather than determining the truth, a jury's task "is to determine whether the State has proved the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt." *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760.

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