No. 48059-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SHAWN BRANDENBURG₁

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Mary Sue Wilson, Judge
Cause No. 13-1-01606-4

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Carol La Verne
Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W.
Olympia, Washington 98502
(360) 786-5540

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

In the closing argument in Glasmann, the prosecutor used a PowerPoint slide presentation in which he incorporated various forms of media: video from security cameras, audio recordings, photographs of the victim's injuries, and Glasmann's booking photograph, which had been admitted into evidence. Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 701. The photograph showed "extensive facial bruising." Id. at 700. It was "digitally altered to look more like a wanted poster than properly admitted evidence." Id. at 715, J. Chambers concurring. Five slides used during the prosecutor's closing showed the booking photograph; one included the caption "DO YOU BELIEVE HIM?"; one was captioned "WHY SHOULD YOU BELIEVE ANYTHING HE SAYS ABOUT THE ASSAULT?" Id. at 701-02, 706. One of the slides showed a photograph, presumably taken from the security video, of Glasmann holding the

victim in a choke hold while crouched behind the counter of a minimart, with the captions “YOU JUST BROKE OUR LOVE”. Id. at 701. Another showed the victim’s injuries with two captions: “What was happening right before the defendant drove over Angel . . . “, and “. . . you were beating the crap out of me!” Id. Finally, three slides during closing arguments successively superimposed the word “GUILTY” over Glasmann’s photograph, forming a “GUILTY GUILTY GUILTY” over his bruised and bloodied face at the end. Id. at 712. Glasmann did not object to any of these slides. Id. at 702. In closing the prosecutor told the jury that to reach a verdict it must decide “Did the defendant tell the truth when he testified?” and that the jury had a duty to compare the testimony of the State’s witnesses to that of the defendant. Id. at 701.

The Glasmann court found that by making “repeated assertions of the defendant’s guilt” visually through slides, the prosecutor had used his position as representative of the State to express his opinion regarding Glasmann’s guilt:

A prosecutor could never shout in closing argument that “Glasmann is guilty, guilty, guilty!” and it would be highly prejudicial to do so. Doing this visually through use of slides... is even more prejudicial.

Id. at 710, 708. It did not say that any statement on a PowerPoint slide expressed a personal opinion. And, notably, the slides in Brandenburg's trial did not say he was guilty. They said that sexual contact, one of the elements of the crime of child molestation, had been proven. Nor did they shout. They only tied a conclusion to the evidence presented.

In Hecht, as in Glasmann, the court took issue with the word "GUILTY" in red over a photograph of the defendant. Hecht, 179 Wn. App. at 504. The court remarked on the capital letters, the color, and the diagonal placement of the word, all designed to "[draw] the eye, implying urgency of action, and evoking emotion." Id. at 506. There is no similarity between this presentation and that in Brandenburg's case, where the prosecutor did not use the word "guilty," did not use a photograph of the defendant, and clearly linked the conclusion that sexual contact had occurred to the evidence presented at trial.

c. There was no prejudice.

Brandenburg claims he was prejudiced because there was conflicting evidence and the prosecutor's printed statements somehow "tipped the balance" and caused the jury to find him guilty. He overlooks the fact that the prosecutor used a similar

argument, and a similar slide, in reference to the charge of first degree rape of a child. RP 341-42; Exhibit 15, Slides No. 17-18. The prosecutor discussed the elements of the offense and the definition of sexual intercourse, and the testimony of E.W. RP 341-42. She followed with a slide that asked, "Did Sexual Intercourse Between the Defendant and [E.W.] Occur?" "YES." Exhibit 15, Slide No. 19. Yet the jury found Brandenburg not guilty of that crime. RP 368; CP 42. Were these slides so prejudicial and the jury so impressionable, one would expect that it would have also convicted Brandenburg of the first degree rape of a child charge.

There was no prejudice to the defendant. Not every PowerPoint presentation which accompanies a prosecutor's closing argument is an improper expression of personal opinion. This one certainly was not.

2. Defense counsel had no reason to object to the testimony of the two officers or to the closing argument of the prosecutor. Failing to do so was not ineffective assistance of counsel.

Brandenburg faults his attorney for failing to object to testimony of Sgt. Cassidy and Detective Ivanovich, as well as to the closing argument of the prosecutor, discussed in the previous section.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, an appellant must show that (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced him. State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). First, deficient performance occurs when counsel's performance falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 705, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), *cert. denied*, 523 U.S. 1008 (1998). An appellant cannot rely on matters of legitimate trial strategy or tactics to establish deficient performance. State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77-78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). For example, "[o]nly in egregious circumstances, on testimony central to the State's case, will the failure to object constitute incompetence of counsel justifying reversal." State v. Neidigh, 78 Wn. App. 71, 77, 895 P.2d 423 (1995) (internal quotation omitted).

Second, prejudice occurs when but for the deficient performance, the outcome would have been different. In re Pers. Restraint of Pirtle, 136 Wn.2d 467, 487, 965 P.2d 593 (1996).

It is not enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding. Virtually every act or omission of counsel would meet that test, and not every error that conceivably could have influenced the outcome undermines the reliability of the result of the proceeding.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 693, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984) (internal quotation omitted). Thus, the focus must be on whether the verdict is a reliable result of the adversarial process, not merely on the existence of error by defense counsel. Id. at 696. A reviewing court is not required to address both prongs of the test if the appellant makes an insufficient showing on one prong. State v. Fredrick, 45 Wn. App. 916, 923, 729 P.2d 56 (1989). “If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, . . . [then] that course should be followed [first].” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697.

a. Testimony of Sgt. Cassidy.

Sgt. Cassidy took the initial report from L.B. and E.W. on June 24, 2012. RP 211-12. When asked if L.B. had disclosed a sex offense, he replied, “Yes.” RP 212. He did not repeat any of the allegations made by L.B.

During E.W.’s testimony, and particularly during cross-examination, she gave conflicting answers concerning what she told Sgt. Cassidy. RP 42, 68, 70-71, 96-97, 109-10. The questioning often concerned answers she had given when she was interviewed by the detective and by the defense investigator. Id.

The prosecutor wanted to ask questions of Sgt. Cassidy for the purpose of “addressing the inconsistent statements that Mr. Jefferson elicited from [E.W.] yesterday. . . [E]ssentially the State is seeking to rehabilitate its witness through this witness.” RP 216.

The State elicited from Sgt. Cassidy that E.W. had told him about an incident where her shirt had been removed while she slept and that she believed Brandenburg had removed it. RP 220-21. Cassidy then testified that he did not have enough information to conclude that a crime had occurred. RP 221. On cross-examination, defense counsel elicited the information that E.W. had not told Cassidy about any touching of her “lady parts” in any “way, shape or form.” RP 222.

First, any actual hearsay contained in Cassidy’s testimony is so minimal as to be nearly non-existent. It is not at all clear that it was even hearsay. “Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” ER 801(c). Here the evidence sought by both parties was the subject matter of statements made by the two girls, not the substance of it.

Second, as to the testimony about E.W.’s statements, the State sought to clarify exactly the scope of what E.W. had told

Cassidy and no specific statements were repeated. This testimony, which does not squarely fall within ER 801(d)(1), would not even be hearsay if it were offered for the purpose of rebutting an express or implied charge of recent fabrication. E.W.'s testimony about what she told Cassidy was conflicting and confusing, and defense counsel clearly was seeking to show she was untruthful. *E.g.*, RP 109-10. The State sought to mitigate that impression by Cassidy's testimony as to which subjects she spoke to him about. The result was not particularly helpful to either party.

It is obvious, however, that Brandenburg cannot have been prejudiced by it. Cassidy's statement that L.B. disclosed a sex offense came long after L.B. had testified at length about Brandenburg removing her clothing and rubbing her breasts. That statement alone cannot conceivably have had any negative effect on Brandenburg. Likewise, the testimony that E.W. had talked only about having her shirt removed would have likely been helpful to Brandenburg, since E.W. told the detective, and testified at trial, about many more serious acts.

The decision whether or not to object is "a classic example of trial tactics. Only in egregious circumstances . . . will the failure to object constitute incompetence of counsel justifying reversal."

State v. Madison, 53 Wn. App. 754, 763, 770 P.2d 662 (1989). It appears that defense counsel did not object here because he expected the testimony to be beneficial to him, and mostly it was.

b. Detective Ivanovich's testimony regarding delayed reporting.

Brandenburg claims that his attorney should have objected to testimony from Detective Ivanovich about the behavior of children in general who disclose sexual abuse. Appellant's Opening Brief at 13-14. However, counsel did object. Twice. RP 159-160. The objections, based upon speculation and lack of foundation, were sustained. RP 159-60.

Ivanovich testified that he has undergone thousands of hours of training during his twenty years in law enforcement. Eighty percent of his caseload consists of cases of sexual assaults against children. RP 155. He has conducted approximately 500 interviews of children, more than one hundred of them formal forensic interviews of children under ten years of age. RP 156. He testified that, based upon his forensic interviews, not every child who has been abused discloses all of the abuse. RP 156. Defense counsel objected on the grounds of speculation and the court required the State to lay additional foundation. RP 159. Ivanovich then testified

that in his investigations, children did not always disclose all of the abuse at once, and they were more likely to disclose when they were away from the person who abused them. RP 159. When asked if a child would make additional disclosures over time, defense counsel again objected on the grounds of speculation and lack of foundation. The court sustained the objection, and the State abandoned that line of questioning. RP 159-60.

Any “expert testimony” that actually came out of the detective’s mouth was so minimal as to make no difference to either party. Further, Ivanovich was not asked about children in general, but about the children he had interviewed. RP 158-159. Nor was he asked to express an opinion. Rather, the State was seeking to establish that among the children he had interviewed, and based upon his training, children tended to make successive disclosures over time as they felt more comfortable doing so. This is hardly the kind of “scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge” that requires an expert to explain. ER 702. It is a common sense observation that would be readily understandable by the jury. It would explain why E.W. had not told Sgt. Cassidy about all of the events to which she testified at trial, but Ivanovich

was not asked to express an opinion about the reasons E.W. made additional disclosures over time.

Ivanovich's testimony does not even fall squarely under ER 701:

OPINION TESTIMONY BY LAY WITNESSES

If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness' testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which are (a) rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) helpful to a clear understanding of the witness' testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) not based on scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge within the scope of rule 702.

In short, the evidence the State sought to elicit from Ivanovich was not an expert opinion, but rather the observation he had made of many children over a long period of time. He testified about his qualifications to make that observation. Even so, defense counsel objected and the objections were sustained. Brandenburg's claims as to this evidence are without merit.

c. State's closing argument.

Brandenburg also claims ineffective assistance of counsel for his failure to object during the prosecutor's closing argument. As discussed extensively in the first section of this brief, an argument that will not be repeated here, there was no objectionable

argument. Counsel's failure to offer a frivolous objection will not support a finding of ineffective assistance. State v. Briggins, 11 Wn. App. 687, 692, 524 P.2d 694, *review denied*, 84 Wn. 2d 1012 (1974). "Because many lawyers refrain from objecting during opening statement and closing argument, absent egregious misstatements, the failure to object during closing argument and opening statement is within the 'wide range' of permissible professional legal conduct." United States v. Necochea, 986 F.2d 1273, 1281 (1993), citing to Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689.

There is great judicial deference to counsel's performance and the analysis begins with a strong presumption that counsel was effective. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 332, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Brandenburg has not overcome that presumption.

d. There was no prejudice

Brandenburg maintains that he was prejudiced by his attorney's failings, but he cannot point to anything except that he was convicted. There was no ineffective assistance of counsel, but even if there had been, there was no apparent prejudice. Brandenburg was acquitted of the most serious charge, which indicates the jury carefully considered the evidence and was not

swept away by the “bolstered testimony” of the victims, “expert testimony” from the detective, or prejudicial argument by the prosecutor.

3. The Court of Appeals has previously rejected the claim made here by Brandenburg that the jury instruction on reasonable doubt violated his due process rights.

The jury in this case was instructed regarding reasonable doubt as follows:

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. If, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

Instruction No. 2, final paragraph; CP 21. This instruction is taken verbatim from WPIC 4.01. 11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 4.01 (3d ed. 2008).

Brandenburg argues for the first time on appeal that “an abiding belief in the truth of the charge” encourages the jury to determine what the truth is, equating proof beyond a reasonable doubt with “the truth.” Appellant’s Opening Brief at 17.

In general, appellate courts will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. It may be so raised if it is a “manifest error affecting a constitutional right.” RAP 2.5(a). Constitutional errors are treated differently because they can and often do result in injustice to the accused and may affect the integrity of our system of justice. “On the other hand, ‘permitting *every possible* constitutional error to be raised for the first time on appeal undermines the trial process, generates unnecessary appeals, creates undesirable retrials, and is wasteful of the limited resources of prosecutors, public defenders and courts.’” McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 333 (cite omitted, emphasis in original).

WPIC 4.01 has a status that is unusual and possibly unique. Ordinarily, trial courts have discretion to decide how instructions are worded. State v. Ng, 110 Wn.2d 32, 41, 750 P.2d 632 (1988). WPIC 4.01, however, must be used without change. The Supreme Court has warned against any attempts to improve this instruction:

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